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INTRODUCTION 

Th is  i s  a t r a n s c r i p t i o n  o f  a  taped in te rv iew ,  one o f  a 

se r ies  conducted by Robert G .  Por te r ,  who r e t i r e d  from 

the U. 5 .  Food and Drug A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  i n  1977. 

The inzerv iews were h e l d  w i t h  r e t i r e d  F.D.A. employees 

whose r e c o l l e c t i o n s  may serve t o  e n r i c h  the  w r i t t e n  record. 

I t  i s  hoped t h a t  these n a r r a t i v e s  o f  t h ings  past  w i l l  serve 

as source m a t e r i a l  f o r  present  and f u t u r e  researchers; t h a t  

the  s t o r i e s  of important  accomplishments, i n t e r e s t i n g  events, 

and d i s t i n g u i s h e d  leaders w i l l  f i n d  a  p l a c e  i n  t r a i n i n g  and 

o r i e n t a t i o n  of  new employees, and may be usefu l  t o  enhance 

the  morale o f  t h e  organ iza t ion ;  and f i n a l l y ,  t h a t  they w i l l  

be of va lue  t o  D r .  James Harvey Young i n  t h e  w r i t i n g  o f  the  

h i s t o r y  o f  t he  Food and Drug Admin is t ra t i on .  

The tapes and t r a n s c r i p t i o n s  w i l l  become a p a r t  of the  

c o l l e c t i o n  of  t he  Nat iona l  L i b r a r y  o f  Medic ine and copies o f  

t he  t r a n s c r i p t i o n s  w i l l  be p laced i n  the  L i b r a r y  o f  Emory 

U n i v e r s i t y .  
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P. - The date is April 19, 1979. This recording is being 

made in  at the home of Morris 

Yakowitz. Morris was employed by Food and Drug 

Administration in 1931 as an analyist in San 

Francisco and he finished his career and retired in 

1966. Is that correct? 

Y. -	That's correct. 
P. -	What was your title at the time you retired? 
Y. 	- I've forgotten. It was the head of one of the divi- 

sions that had to do with regulatory natters. I've 

forgotten the exact title of the division. 

P. - It doesn't make any difference, but it was in DRM or 

one of those. 

Y. - Yes, I came to Washington in 1948 to work in the 

adninistrative offices of FDA at the Washington 

Headquarters. 

P. - First I want to thack you for the tape recording that 

you've already furnished me Morris with the history 

of your career and with a number of interesting 

comments about cases and events during that period. 

But right now I understand you're interested in a 

current matter, or that you're involved in a matter. 

It would be interesting to all of ;s. 

Y. -	Perhaps so. From about 1948 to 1966, I was working 



at the Washington Headquarters of FDA, usually in an 


administrative capacity. During much of that time I 


was responsible for signing out letters to the drug 


industry responding to inquiries that the drug 


industry might make of FDA. Thus, in about 1954 the 


Ciba Geige Company sent a letter to FDA asking if 


FDA would agree to the over-the-counter sale of a 


product known as Vioform, intended for treating dys- 


entery. After consulting with the Bureau of 


Medicine physicians, I signed out a letter to the 


company stating that we would agree to the 


over-the-counter sale of the drug at that time. 


However, our medical officers became concerned over 


the possibility that Vioform may cause adverse 


effects, and at their request in 1960 I signed out a 


new letter to Ciba recommended that Vioform no 


longer be sold over-the-counter but that it be re- 


stricted to sales by prescription only. The firm 


agreed to this and from 1961 on Vioform was not 


available in the United States except on prescrip- 


tion. The picture in Japan was quite different. 


There the product was allowed to be sold over-the- 


counter and during the period 1960 to 1970 many 


cases of a condition known as SMON occurred. SMON 



is the acronym for sub-acutemyelo-opticoneuropathy a 

paralytic condition which manifested itself by par- 

alysis of the legs and injury to the optic nerves. 

During the period 1960 to 1970 there occurred 

perhaps up to 10,000 cases of SMON of varying 

severity in Japan. I should add, that for a long 


time no one was able to identify the cause of the 

SMON condition. But in about 1970 some physicians 

noted that some of the SMON patients had a sediment 

in the urine which, upon examination, turned out to 


be crystals of Vioform. This led to the theory that 

Vioform had caused the SMON tragedy in Japan. 

From about September 1970 on, the Japanese 

Government forbid the further sale of Vioform in 

their country and SMON cases stopped appearing. The 

drug has not been sold in the U.3. since 1971, even 

though it may be leqally be sold m- Orl 

prescription. The fact is that the company decided 

not to sell it anymore in the U . S .  And as I've 

indicated they could no longer sell it legally in 

Japan. I must add that the patients who suffered 

from the condition had banded together in Japan to 

sae the various drug companies th,at sold the Vioform 



i n  J a p a n .  Eowever,  a number o f  t h e  d r u g  companies  

i n v o l v e d  i n  t h e  s a l e  o f  t h e  Vio fo rm h a v e  r e f u s e d  t o  

a d m i t  t h a t  t h e  d r u g  h a s  been  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  t h e  SMON 

c o n d i t i o n  and  t h e y  s a y  o t h e r  p o s s i b i l i t i e s  such  a s  

p e r h a p s  a v i r a l  i n f e c t i o n  may e x p l a i n  t h e  SMON con-

d i t i o n .  T h u s ,  a q u e s t i o n  is  s t i l l  i n  t h e  minds o f  

sore p h y s i c i a n s  a s  to  w h e t h e r  o r  n o t  Vioform a c t u a l l y  

c a u s e s  t h e  SMON c o n d i t i o n .  

The l a w y e r s  r e p r e s e n t i n g  t h e  SMON p l a i n t i f f s  

l e a r n e d  of  t h e  exchange  o f  c o r r e s p o n d e n c e  between FDA 

and C iba  back i n  1954 and 1960  and  came t o  m e  t o  a s k  

f o r  some f u r t h e r  e x p l a n a t i o n  o f  t h e  c o n t e n t  o f  t h e  

l e t t e r s .  I was a b l e  to  d i r e c t  them t o  D r .  Denn i s  J .  

McGrath i n  Washington,  who had been  a member o f  t h e  

Bureau  o f  Medic ine  a t  t h e  time we w r o t e  t h e  1954 and 

1960 l e t t e r s  t o  Ciba .  The l a w y e r s  were a b l e  to  g e t  

f rom D r .  McGrath t h e  background i n f o r m a t i o n  r e g a r d i n g  

FDA's m e d i c a l  c o n c e r n  o v e r  t h e  p o s s i b i l i t y  o f  a d v e r s e  

e f f e c t s  f rom Vioform. 

D r .  McGrath and  I have been  i n v i t e d  t o  a t t e n d  a  

m e e t i n g  i n  J a p a n  to  c o n s i d e r  t h e  g e n e r a l  s u b j e c t  

( w h i c h  we h e l d  i n  Kyoto,  J a p a n )  unde r  t h e  t i t l e  of  

t h e  "Kyoto I n t e r n a t i o n a l  C o n f e r e n c e  A g a i n s t  Drug 

I n d u c e d  S u f f e r i n g s " .  The t o p i c  o f  t h e  SMON c o n d i t i o n  



a t t r i b u t e d  t o  V i o f o r m  w i l l  b e  d i s c u s s e d .  However, my 

role 	i n  t h e  m e e t i n g  w i l l  n o t  be  t o  d i s c u s s  SMON a t  

a l l  b u t ,  m e r e l y  t o  t a l k  a b o u t  t h e  s u p p o r t  t h a t  t h e  

World H e a l t h  O r g a n i z a t i o n  h a s  g i v e n  to  d r u g  c o n t r o l  

i n  L a t i n  A m e r i c a .  I t ' s  a g e n e r a l  t o p i c  a n d  a s  I ' v e  

i n d i c a t e d  is n o t  d i r e c t l y  c o n n e c t e d  w i t h  t h e  SMON 

s i t u a t i o n .  

P .  	 - Why d o n ' t  you  t e l l  u s  s o m e t h i n g  a b o u t  w h a t  you  d i d  i n  

t h e  World H e a l t h  O r g a n i z a t i o n  w h e r e  y o u  were a c t i v e  

a f t e r  y o u r  r e t i r e m e n t  f r o m  Food a n d  Drug a n d  some 

e x p e r i e n c e  wi th - -wha t  d r u g  f i r m  

Y .  -	 S m i t h ,  K l i n e  a n d  F r e n c h .  V e r y  w e l l .  

P .  -	 I t h i n k  t h a t  would  b e  i n t e r e s t i n g .  

Y.  	 - V e r y  good. When I r e t i r ed  f r o m  FDA i n  A u g u s t  o f  

1 9 6 6 ,  f o r  a w h i l e  I was unemployed ,  b u t  i n  t h e  l a t t e r  

p a r t  o f  1 9 6 6 ,  I was i n v i t e d  by t h e  d r u g  f i r m  o f  

S m i t h ,  K l i n e ,  a n d  F r e n c h  o f  P h i l a d e l p h i a ,  P e n n s y l -

v a n i a  t o  j o i n  them a s  a d v i s o r  on d r u g  c o n t r o l  

matters. I worked  w i t h  S m i t h ,  K l i n e ,  a n d  F r e n c h  f r o m  

S e p t e m b e r  o f  1 9 6 6  t o  t h e  e n d  o f  1 9 6 7 .  A t  t h a t  t i m e  I 

j o i n e d  t h e  A m e r i c a n  R e g i o n a l  O f f i c e  o f  t h e  World 

a e a l t h  O r g a n i z a t i o n  w i t h  s u b - h e a d - q u a r t e r s  a t  

W a s h i n g t o n ,  D.C.  I worked  f o r  t h e  A m e r i c a n  r e g i o n a l  

o f f i c e  o f  W 0  f r o m  1 9 6 8  u n t i l  Augus t  o f  1 9 7 5 ,  a t  



which time I retired and now am completely retired 


from the drug field. 


While I worked with the World Health Organiza- 


tion my job was to visit the Latin ~merican countries 


to inspect their drug control agencies and to make 


recommendations for improving their procedures and 


their organization. This was a very interesting 


field and although it's difficult to say that a great 


deal of positive results occurred, I nevertheless 


feel that some ideas that were brought by me from FDA 


to the Latin American governments were very helpful 


to them. 


P. - Did you go to alsost all of the countries in South 

America? 

Y. - Yes I did. I visited the capitols of slmost all of 

the South American countries including Mexico and 

down to Argentina and Chile. In general they suffer 

from lack of funds. That was their big problem. 

Salaries of the government officials in Latin America 

are generally low. Many men are unable to maintain a 

family on the basis of a government salary and there- 

fore, they either avoid working for the government, 

or if they do work for the government, they take a 

second and even a third job in order to eke out a 



sufficient income. 


?. - They couldn't attract people with the right education 

then either? 

Y. - Well, in some cases they do, but generally speaking 

most of the analysts are women, a fact which speaks 

for itself because the women apparently are content 

with the lower salaries. And that is why, in my 

opinion, most of the analysts in the Latin American 

Food and Drug Administrations are feminine. 

P. - It's almost like it is here in this country that the 

women get paid less than the men, don't they? 

Y. 	- Probably. Or at least they are content to accept a 

lower salary than the men. I think that's perhaps 

the explanation. 

P. - Down there that's true. I'm not sure that's true in 

this country. 

Y. - I don't know. It's very interesting to make the com- 

parison, but I'm sure it would show that in general 

the salaries for either men or women of the people 

who work for the Latin American governments are quite 

low. 

P. 	- Tell me, let's go back to your days in Food and Drug 

a little bit. Which Commissioners did you know 

personally the best? 



Y .  - Well, I f i r s t  met D r .  D u n b a r  as  t h e  C o m m i s s i o n e r .  He 

was s u c c e e d e d  b y  C h a r l e s  C r a w f o r d .  I knew M r .  

C r a w f o r d .  He was s u c c e e d e d  by L a r r i c k  a n d  t h e n  h e  

was s u c c e e d e d ,  a s  I ' v e  i n d i c a t e d  i n  t h e  o t h e r  t a p e ,  

by D r .  Godda r d  . 
P .  	- Are t h e r e  a n y  sort o f  p e r s o n a l  t h i n g s  t h a t  h a p p e n e d  

i n  r e g a r d  t o  D r .  D u n b a r  t h a t  you remember?  W h i l e  

y o u ' r e  t h i n k i n g  o f  t h a t  I c a n  t e l l  you a s t o r y  o f  my 

own t h a t  I a l w a y s  t h i n k  o f  i n  r e g a r d  t o  D u n b a r .  

About t h e  t i m e  h e ,  or  j u s t  b e f o r e  h e  became 

C o m m i s s i o n e r ,  I had  s a m p l e d  some p e a n u t  b u t t e r  u p  i n  

I d a h o  F a l l s ,  I d a h o .  And t h e  o n l y  t h i n g  w r o n g  w i t h  i t  

was--and we s e i z e d  i t  f o r  s h o r t  w e i g h t .  T h e  U.S. 

A t t o r n e y  u p  t h e r e  a n d  t h i s  was d u r i n g  t h e  w a r  a n d  t h e  

U.S. A t t o r n e y  h a d n ' t  g o t t e n  t h e  word t h a t  when  you  

had  a s e i z e d  material t o  d i s p o s e  o f  d u r i n g  t h e  war, 

i f  i t  had f a t  i n  i t ,  w e l l ,  you saw t o  i t  t h a t  t h e  f a t  

was r e c o v e r e d ,  b e c a u s e  a s  you may r e c a l l ,  h o u s e w i v e s  

were s a v i n g  t h e i r  f a t  a n d  s e l l i n g  i t  f o r  a p e n n y  a 

pound back  t o  t h e  b u t c h e r s  so t h a t  i t  would  g o  b a c k  

i n t o  n a t i o n a l  d e f e n s e  c h a n n e l s .  S o  t h i s  p e a n u t  

b u t t e r  was d e s t r o y e d .  J u s t  a t  t h e  time t h i s  w a s  

p i c k e d  u p  b y  t h e  U n i t e d  P r e s s ,  t h i s  s t o r y ,  D r .  D u n b a r  

was made C o m m i s s i o n e r .  And some reporters a c t u a l l y  



c a u g h t  him o n  t h e  t r a i n  b e t w e e n  N e w  York a n d  

W a s h i n g t o n  a n d  a s k e d  h im a b o u t  t h i s .  . T h e  a r t i c l e  

t h a t  a p p e a r e d  a r o u n d  t h e  c o u n t r y  f r o m  U n i t e d  P r e s s  

s o u r c e s  was t h a t  D r .  D u n b a r  h a d  s a i d  h e  g u e s s e d  h i s  

a g e n t  o u t  t h e r e  i n  I d a h o  had  g o o f e d .  Well, I was h i s  

a g e n t  o u t  t h e r e .  I h a d  n e v e r  met h im.  I was a y o u n g  

I n s p e c t o r  a t  t h a t  t i m e .  L a t e r  h e  a n d  L a r r i c k  made a 

t r i p  a n d  you m i g h t  r e c a l l  t h a t - - w e l l  you were i n  t h e  

Army a t  t h a t  t i m e - - b u t  Mary V e e  w i l l  r e c a l l  t h a t  I 

t h i n k  t h e  summer a f t e r  D u n b a r  became C o m m i s s i o n e r ,  h e  

a n d  L a r r i c k  made a t r i p  a l l  t h e  way across t h e  coun-

t r y .  I t  j u s t  h a p p e n e d  t h a t  t h e y  weekended i n  S a l t  

L a k e  so t h a t  t h e y  s p e n t  t h e  w h o l e  d a y  t h e r e  when 

n o r m a l l y  t h e y  m i g h t  n o t  h a v e  s p e n t  t h a t  l o n g .  When 

t h e y  a r r i v e d  and  t h e y  g o t  o f f  t h e  t r a i n ,  e v e r y b a d y  

t r a v e l e d  by t r a i n  p r e t t y  much i n  t h o s e  d a y s ,  t h e  

f i r s t  t h i n g  Dunbar  s a i d  when h e  was i n t r o d u c e d  t o  m e  

i s  h e  s a i d ,  " I ' m  g l a d  t o  meet you.  T h e  f i r s t  t h i n g  I 

w a n t  t o  s a y  t o  you i s  t h a t  I w a n t  t o  a p o l o g i z e  f o r  

t h e  way I was q u o t e d  by t h e  U n i t e d  P r e s s  a b o u t  t h e  

p e a n u t  b u t t e r  matter .  H e  s a i d  I was m i s q u o t e d .  I 

d i d  n o t  s a y  t h a t .  I would  n e v e r  s a y  t h a t  a b o u t  o n e  

o f  my men, w h e t h e r  I knew h i m  o r  n o t . "  N o w  h e  h a d  

t h a t  o n  h i s  mind a b o u t  m e  a n d  h e  had  n e v e r  met me 



before. 


Y. - That's typical of Dr. Dunbar. He was a very 

gentlemanly type. 

P. -	I thought maybe you'd had some experiences that-- 
Nary Vee - Mentioning that you worked for WHO. I was 

thinking that Mr. Larrick was the consultant for them 

ahead of you. 

Y. - That's true, after he retired from FDA. 

Mary Vee - That should be put in. 

P. -	What was that? I didn't quite hear--- 

Y. - When Commissioner Larrick retired from FDA at the end 

of 1965, he was given a temporary assignment by the 

World Health Organization to visit Latin America. 

This I think occurred about in the middle of 1966. 

And he turned in a very interesting report concerning 

the countries that he visited such as Uruguay. 

P. 	 - That's all right, the lady we hear in the background 

is Xary Vee, who's also a Food and Drug employee. 

Y. - And then to finish what I said about Commissioner 

Larrick, he visited Brazil, Argentina, Uruguay and 

perhaps other Latin American countries. And he 

turned a very interesting report regarding their Food 

and Drug testing organizations as they existed at 

that time. His report was very helpful to me when I 



assumed a p o s i t i o n  w i t h  t h e  WHO. 

P .  -	Did h e  make any recommendat ions?  

Y .  	 - N o ,  h e  r e a l l y  d e s c r i b e d  what  h e  saw and l e t  i t  g o  a t  

t h a t .  The problem i s - - i f  you w r i t e  a r e p o r t  t h a t  is 

q u i t e  c r i t i c a l ,  i t  g e t s  back t o  t h e  gove rnmen t s  and 

t h e y  o f  c o u r s e  f e e l  q u i t e  u p s e t  by i t  . S o  i n  a  

s e n s e  - anybody who writes a report r e g a r d i n g  

a n o t h e r  c o u n t r y  must e x e r c i s e  a d e g r e e  o f  c a r e f u l n e s s  

so t h a t  h e  d o e s n ' t  o v e r l y  o f f e n d  t h e  c o u n t r y  t h a t  

a c t e d  a s  h i s  h o s t  when h e  v i s i t e d  t h e  c o u n t r y .  

P .  	 - S o  t h e n  you f o l l o w e d  L a r r i c k  t h e n  i n  t h a t  or a 

s i m i l a r  job?  

Y .  	 - I n  t h a t  s e n s e .  B u t  L a r r i c k ' s  appo in tmen t  was a  

t e m p o r a r y  o n e ,  f o r  p e r h a p s  a b o u t  a month and  a h a l f .  

Mine was a ? e m a n e n t  a p p o i n t m e n t  and a s  I i n d i c a t e d  I 

worked f o r  t h e  American r e g i o n a l  o f f i c e  o f  WHO f o r  

a b o u t  8 y e a r s .  

Going back t o  D r .  Dunbar .  I t ' s  h a r d  f o r  me t o  

t h i n k  o f  s p e c i f i c  i n s t a n c e s  b u t  I a s s u r e  you t h a t  

e v e r y o n e  r e v e r e d  him a s  a g e n t l e  l e a d e r  who was v e r y  

f i r 3  i n  h i s  d e c i s i o n s ,  b u t  v e r y  p l e a s a n t  i n  t h e  way 

h e  z a r r i e d  o u t  h i s  i d e a s  and t h e  way h e  made s u r e  

t h a t  h i s  d i r e c t i v e s  were c a r r i e d  o u t .  

P. -	The o n l y  t h i n g  t h a t  might  be  c o n s i d e r e d  c r i t  i c a l  o f  



him that I ever heard was--it had nothing to do with 


hin as a person--I guess everybody liked him. But 


that when the war started and all the agencies were 


increasing in size so much, I had heard the story 


that Dunbar had said that he didn't want Food and 


Drug to grow enormously during the war and be 


cut back later on. And so we tackled the job we had 


to do with a lot less money and people we might have 


had otherwise. And then when the war was over I 


think everybody got cut back including us. I don't 


know that's just one of those things you hear. 


Y. - There may be some truth to that. He was a very 

careful spender of his own money according to 

reputation and perhaps that carried over into his 

spending of the government money. However this is a 

point in which if Dr. Dunbar was alive and 

Commissioner now, he might be highly acclaimed for 

his careful expenditures. 

P. - Right. The budget certainly has changed since those 

years. 

Y. - Oh my.  As I've indicated earlier this citizen's 

committee report of about 1955 recommended a 15% 

increase per year and that's the way it went for at 



least 10 years or longer. So that FDA's budget 


increased greatly from 1955 up to the present time. 


P. -	Well, then did you know Crawford very well? 
Y. - Not very well. He was Commissioner when I was in 

Washington and I worked in his unit as--In fact for a 

number of years letter writers such as myself signed 

themselves out as Assistant to the Commissioner. It 

was a glorified title, but it did indicate that we 

were at least fairly close to the Commissioner. 

Crawford was another of the gentle but very positive 

types. And as I've indicated in the other tape, when 

he ran into a budget cut in about 1954, the need to 

save money by dismissing employees so hurt him, he 

felt that it showed poor leadership on his part. No-

body could talk him out of that idea. And as a re- 

sult, he retired. He somehow felt that he had been 

disgraced by what had happened. A false feeling but 

nevertheless one that he couldn't shake off. 

P. - He didn't live too long after he retired, do you 

think he might have already been sick and that was 

something to do with his decision? 

Y. 	- Possibly. It's even possible that he became sick be- 

cause of his mental perturbation. That's not 

impossible. 



P .  - NO. 

Y .  	 - I t  is t r u e  h e  l i v e d  o n l y  f o r  a n o t h e r  two o r  t h r e e  

y e a r s  a f t e r  h e  r e t i r e d .  

P .  	 - How a b o u t  George i a r r i c k ?  You must  have  known him 

p r e t t y  well. 

Y .  	 - Very  w e l l ,  y e s .  George  was a  v e r y  p r a c t i c a l  minded 

man. He t o o k  i n t o  a c c o u n t  a l l  o f  t h e  f a c t o r s  t h a t  

any r e a s o n a b l e  p e r s o n  would i n  making h i s  d e c i s i o n s  

and i n  making h i s  a p p o i n t m e n t s .  U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  h e  

r a n  i n t o  a l l  t h e  t r o u b l e s  t h a t  I r e f e r r e d  t o  i n  t h e  

e a r l i e r  t a p e  of  the--He was C o m i s s i o n e r  when t h e  

welch  a f f a i r  became bad p u b l i c i t y .  9 e  was Commis-

s i o n e r  when t h e  p h y s i c i a n  i n  FDA appea red  b e f o r e  a 

C o n g r e s s i o n a l  Commit tee  and  c r i t i c i z e d  t h e  D r .  J e r r y  

Ho l l and  who had b e e n  a p p o i n t e d  a s  t h e  head o f  t h e  

Bureau of  Med ic ine  by L a r r i c k .  L a r r i c k  had t h e  u t -  

most  f a i t h  i n  B o i l a n d  and i t  h u r t  h i s  when h i s  own 

p e o p l e  l a t e r  on c l a i m e d  t h a t  Ho l l and  had been  a 

f r i e n d  of  t h e  i n d u s t r y  r a t h e r  t h a n  a f r e e  and 

i n d e p e n d e n t  member of  t h e  Food and Drag A d m i n i s t r a -

t i o n .  

P .  	 - H e  had a l o t  o f  f a i t h  i n  Welch t o o ,  d i d n ' t  h e ?  A t  

l e a s t  up u n t i l  p r e t t y  l a t e  i n  t h e  day and maybe 

a lways .  I d o n ' t  know t h a t .  



Y. - Well, at the end he was forced to demand as it were, 

that Welch get out. Welch would have had to resign 

in any event, but I'm confident that Larrick felt we 

could no longer stand the bad publicity that was 

cor.ing out of the Welch investigation. And I'm sure 

that he invited Henry to leave. 

P. - Frcm a scientific standpoint I guess Welch was pro- 

bably eminently qualified. 

Y. 	- Welch was regarded as one of the best scientists that 

FDA ever had and one of the best administrators that 

FDA had. His only trouble was that he became 

apparently friendly with the heads of big drug 

companies and their incomes were much greater than 

his. And he perhaps felt that he should be rewarded 

at the same rate as the presidents of the drug com- 

panies. At least that was the feeling that many peo- 

ple expressed at the time. But concerning his 

capability and his actions, really as a member of the 

FDA, there was no criticism. 

P. - I guess one of the most traumatic aftermaths of that 

was the investigation of every Food and Drug employee 

by a group appointed by the Secretary. 

Y. 	- It was an attempt to win back public confidence in 

the integrity of FDA following the bad publicity 



about Welch. 


P. - I don't know whether it had more effect in winning 

back public confidence or in hurting morale of the 

Food and Drug Administration. 

Y. 	- Those were sad times for Larrick because at the same 

time he suffered from physical ailments that kept him 

out of the office for long periods and this of course 

was not helpful at all in the dealing with the bad 

publicity that eminated from the Welch and the 

Holland and the Abbott cases. 

P. - How about Harvey? You must have known Harvey just 

about as well as anybody ever knew him. 

Y. - Harvey was an interesting personality. He was a very 

capable person. He was a very capable speaker and he 

loved. to speak. And in fact FDA used him frequently 

as a principal speaker at banquets and other 

occasions of that kind because they knew that he had 

something interesting for the audience to listen to. 

P. 	- Can I tell you kind of a funny story? I think it's 

funny. 

Y. -	Go right ahead. 
P. - Last summer I went out and interviewed J. Edward 

Kimlel. Kimlel's about 90 years old now. 

Y. -	Yes, we hear from him at Christmas time. 



P. 	 - I n c i d e n t a l l y  h e  l o o k s  v e r y  well  f o r  a man h i s  age .  

30 w e  were t a l k i n g  l i k e  you and  I a r e  t a l k i n g ,  and I 

a s k e d  him a b o u t  d i f f e r e n t  p e o p l e .  T h e r e  m i g h t  be  

n o t h i n g  beh ind  t h i s  b e c a u s e  h e  is g e t t i n g  o l d  enough 

t h e t  somet imes  f o r  a  moment i t  would s l i p  a  l i t t l e .  

S o  when I came a round  I s a i d  w e l l  now how a b o u t  J o h n  

L .  Harvey ,  b e c a u s e  h e  was d e s c r i b i n g  some o f  t h e  Com- 

m i s s i o n e r s  and s o  on. And h e  s a i d ,  "Oh, Harvey was 

an I n s p e c t o r " .  And t h a t ' s  a l l  h e  s a i d .  And I w a i t e d  

f o r  him t o  s a y  some more. H e  d i d n ' t  s a y  a n y t h i n g .  

Y .  -	T h a t ' s  s t r a n g e .  

P. 	 - And i n  my own way, s u s p i c i o u s  way, I g u e s s ,  I 

wondered i f  maybe h e  and Harvey  h a d n ' t  g o t t e n  a l o n g  

t o o  w e l l  o r  h e  was j e a l o u s  o f  Harvey  o r ,  you know, 

you c a n  a t t r i b u t e  a l l  k i n d s  o f  t h i n g s  t h a t  m i g h t  n o t  

be t r u e  a t  a l l  t o  t h a t  k i n d  o f  a t h i n g .  

Y .  	 - Well, p e r h a p s  I c a n  make a comment t h a t  p o s s i b l y  

b e a r s  on what  y o u ' v e  j u s t  s a i d .  Wendel l  V i n c e n t  was 

head  of  t h e  Wes te rn  D i s t r i c t  f o r  a number o f  y e a r s .  

I ' v e  f o r g o t t e n  t h e  y e a r  i n  which h e  was removed f rom 

t h a t  p o s i t i o n  and a p p o i n t e d  a s  head  of  t h e  Denver  

D i s t r i c t .  I n  o r d e r  t o  make room f o r  him a t  t h e  head  

of  t h e  Denver  Distr ict ,  t h e y  had t o  move K i m l e l  away. 

K i m l e l  was t h e  head of  t h e  Denver  Distr ict  up u n t i l  



t h a t  t i m e .  They moved K i m l e l  t o  San  F r a n c i s c o  where 

t h e y  g a v e  him a k i n d  of  a semi - f lunky  job .  He was 

n o t  head o f  a n y t h i n g ,  b u t  sort o f  t h i r d  a s s i s t a n t  t o  

Dis t r ic t  C h i e f .  Now, Harvey was t h e - - a f t e r  V i n c e n t  

was d i s p l a c e d  a s  head o f  t h e  Wes te rn  D i s t r i c t ,  Barvey 

had been a p p o i n t e d  a s  head of  t h e  D i s t r i c t  and h e  was 

t h e  one  who had moved V i n c e n t  t o  Denver  and had moved 

K i t l e l  f rom Denver t o  San F r a n c i s c o  t o  t h e  Distr ict  

H e a d q u a r t e r s .  I t  may w e l l  be t h a t  K i m l e l  r e s e n t e d  

b e i n g  f o r c e d  o u t  o f  t h e  p o s i t i o n  t h a t  h e  l o v e d ,  and 

you know, c o u l d  s h e d  some honor on him a s  head o f  t h e  

Denver D i s t r i c t  t o  assume a r e a l l y  l o w e r  r a n k i n g  

p o s i t i o n  a t  S a n  F r a n c i s c o .  

P .  	 - But t h e n  h e  d i d  become a c t u a l l y  d e p u t y  t o  Harvey 

e v e n t u a l l y .  A t  l e a s t  t h a t ' s  what--

Y .  -	For o n l y  a s h o r t  time. 

P .  -	 Is t h a t  r i g h t ?  

Y .  	- When t h e y  b r o k e  up t h e  D i s t r i c t s  i n  1 9 4 8 ,  and moved 

Harvey t o  Washington ,  t h e y  a l s o  moved K i m l e l  t o  

Washington and g a v e  him some minor  p o s i t i o n  he  r e -

s e n t e d  and  d i d n ' t  l i k e  and he  r e t i r e d  a s  soon  a s  he  

c o u l d .  

P. 	 - I g o t  t h a t  i m p r e s s i o n  t o o .  he made some remark  t h a t  

would i n d i c a t e  t h a t  h e  was n o t  a t  a l l  happy w i t h  



what--

Y.  	 - Very unhappy. Be d i d n ' t  l i k e  l i v i n g  i n  Wash ing ton .  

He d i d n ' t  l i k e  wha t  t h e y  g a v e  him t o  do.  H e  f e l t  

t h a t  t h e y  were making work f o r  him. I remember t h a t  

p a r t  v e r y  w e l l .  

P. 	- Well, it migh t  be t h e n  t h a t  t h e r e  was some r e s e n t m e n t  

t h e r e ,  t h a t  even  a f t e r  a l l  t h e s e  y e a r s  h e  s t i l l  

f e e l s .  Almost e v e r y b o d y  I ' v e  asked  a b o u t  Harvey  

says- -not  e v e r y t h i n g  is g r e a t  a b o u t  him, b u t  you know 

g e n e r a l l y  s p e a k i n g  you g e t  good comments a b o u t  

Harvey. 

Y.  	 - Well, t h e  t h i n g  a b o u t  J a c k  Harvey and I t h i n k  m o s t  

p e o p l e  w i l l  a g r e e  w i t h  m e ,  was someth ing  l i k e  t h i s :  

i f  you were h i s  f r i e n d ,  h e  was y o u r  f r i e n d .  He was a  

v e r y  l o y a l  p e r s o n .  But i f  you became a c r i t i c  o f  

him, no m a t t e r  how good you were, h e  migh t  r e s e n t  

t h a t  and i t  m i g h t  have  r ebounded  a g a i n s t  you.  

P. -	 A p r e t t y  human sort  of--

Y .  	 - Oh s u r e  Harvey was a s  human a s  t h e y  come. 

By  t h e  way, coming back  t o  K i m l e l ,  my r e c o l l e c t i o n  i s  

t h a t  he had a d e g r e e  i n  c h i r o p r a c t i c  and was e v e n  

l i c e n s e d  t o  p r a c t i c e  c h i r o p r a c t i c .  Of c o u r s e  h e  

n e v e r  d i d  p r a c t i c e  i t ,  b u t  he c o u l d  have done  i t  i f  

h e  van ted  t o .  



P. 	- I had forgotten that, but I remember having heard 

that at some time in my life. 

Y. -	And then remember the interesting story of--what was 
the name of the Chemist at Denver who had an M.D. 


degree and was licensed-- 


P. -	That was Chernoff. 
Y. - Chernoff, he never practiced medicine, but he could 

have. 

P. -	Chernoff is still alive. He's in his nineties. 

Y. -	Where does he live? Do you know? 

P. - In Denver. I haven't been to see him, but I know 

he's there. 

Y. -	If you ever run into him, give him my best. 
P. -	Okay. 
Y. -	 He was a peppery little fellow. 
P. -	Oh yes. Mildred worked for him. 

Y. -	Oh did you? 
Mildred - I worked for him, yes. When I worked at Denver 

he was Chief Chemist. 

Y. - He was very knowledgeable wasn't he? 

Mildred - Yes. 

P. -	We have reservations about him so-- 
Y. -	 Really 
P. -	 Yes. I knew him in two ways. He also played the 



v i o l i n  i n  t h e  Denver  Symphony. I had a b r o t h e r - i n -

law i n  t h e  Denver  Symphony and so t h e  s t o r y  a round my 

f a m i l y  was t h a t  a s  a  C h e m i s t  h e  was a  good v i o l i n i s t  

an?--

Y .  -	 AnC as a v i o l i n i s t  h e  w a s  a good c h e m i s t .  

P .  	 - Well, I g u e s s  h e  was a p r e t t y  good v i o l i n i s t ,  b u t  

y e s ,  w e  d i d  s a y  t h a t  somet imes .  But I t h i n k  h e  r e -

s e n t e d  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  he d i d n ' t  g o  f a r t h e r  i n  Food and 

Drug. 

Y .  	 - I ' m  s u r e  y o u ' r e  r i g h t .  He was Ch ie f  Chemis t  and t h a t  

was a s  h i g h  a s  h e  e v e r  g o t .  

P .  	 - And a n o t h e r  man i n  Denver i n  t h o s e  d a y s  was--good 

c h e m i s t  w a s  M r .  F e l d s t e i n .  Remember him? 

Y .  	 - I met him o n c e  i n  t h i s  famous D i a p l e x  f o r  d i a b e t e s  

c a s e .  

P .  -	T h e r e  was a t r u e  gen t l eman .  

Y .  -	 He was a r e a l  gen t l eman .  I remember t h a t ,  y e s .  

P .  	 - How a b o u t  Wendel l  V i n c e n t ?  Do you want t o  t a l k  a b o u t  

some of h i s  t r o u b l e s ?  

Y .  	 - Well, I r e a l l y  d i d n ' t  know them v e r y  well. I came t o  

San F r a n c i s c o  i n  t h e  m i d d l e  o f  1931 and  I t h i n k  Vin- 

c e n t  was p r e t t y  much removed f rom h i s  p o s i t i o n  a s  

head o f  t h e  D i s t r i c t  i n  a b o u t  p e r h a p s  1935.  I d o n ' t  

know what y e a r  i t  was. 



P .  	- I d o n ' t  e i t h e r  b e c a u s e  h e  was a l r e a d y  i n  Denver  when 

I came al.ong. 

Y .  	- R e a l l y  had v e r y  l i t t l e  c o n t a c t  w i t h  him. My c o n t a c t s  

were  w i t h  Mr. E a t o n ,  who was my immediate  b o s s .  We 

formed a s o r t  o f  a  s m a l l  u n i t  i n  t h e  d r u g  l a b o r a t o r y  

and o n l y  v e n t u r e d  o u t  o n c e  i n  a w h i l e  t o  t a l k  t o  t h e  

rest of  t h e  o r g a n i z a t i o n .  R e a l l y  and t r u l y .  

P .  	 - When I was t h e r e  George  Smi th  was t h e  C h i e f  

I n s p e c t o r .  I u n d e r s t a n d  George  Smi th  is  a l i v e .  

Y .  	 - H i s  w i f e  d i e d .  W e  r e c e i v e d  a n o t e  f rom him a b o u t  a 

y e a r  ago.  

P .  -	Oh w e l l  t h e n  you know b e t t e r  t h a n  I .  

Y .  	 - S h e  had p a s s e d  away,  y e s .  Smi th  h a s  an i n t e r e s t i n g  

s t o r y  connec ted  w i t h  him. I t  was s a i d  t h a t  he- - they  

had t o  u r g e  him t o  c a s h  h i s  paychecks .  A p p a r e n t l y  h e  

had s o  much money t h a t  h e  d i d n ' t  b o t h e r  t o  d e p o s i t  

t h e  paychecks .  

P .  -	Oh, is  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

Y .  	 - T h a t ' s  what  t h e y  s a i d .  Ask him, now George  y o u ' v e  

g o t  checks  r u n n i n g  f o r  s i x  months ,  g e t  them i n  be- 

c a u s e  y o u ' r e  r u i n i n g  o u r  bookkeeping .  A v e r y  l u c k y  

FDA employee. 

P .  	 - B e  must have been  good on t h e  s t o c k m a r k e t  o r  some-

t h i n g .  



Y. - Something, yes. 

P. - Maybe he inherited it. I didn't know him too well. 

I worked for him just for those few months. And then 

I went to Denver. And I never really saw him again. 

P. - Well, who were some of the unsung heroes of Food and 

Drug. You know, we talk about bigshots, but maybe 

you know some stories--some work that was done. I 

was going to ask your wife about some of the things 

she did too. I bet she did some things that-- 

Y. - Well, the one that I would mention is Lewis 

McRoberts, who was a Chemist at the San Francisco 

lab. He was one of the best Chemists that FDA ever 

had. He was a very thorough, a very careful person 

and you could trust him with practically any type of 

examination that was in the chemistry books. Mac's 

problem was that he was self-effacing and he never, 

not in my opinion, received the reward he should have 

had as a member of FDA. He was never promoted as 

rapldly as his true capabilities warranted. Other 

people with much lesser qualifications would be 

jumped over him. But he never complained. Probably 

if he had complained they xould have paid some 

attention to him. But he was really one of the best 

Chemists they've ever had. 



- -- 

P.  	 - D o  you  remember,  you  m i g h t  s a y ,  p r e c e d e n t  s e t t i n g  

methodology O r  a n y t h i n g  o f  t h a t  n a t u r e ?  

Y .  	 - Yes, I c a n  t h i n k  of i t .  I n  t h e  d e t e r m i n a t i o n  of 

V i t a m i n  B1 which  f o r  some r e a s o n  became a major 

p rob lem i n  a b o u t  t h e  e a r l y  1 9 3 0 ' s .  McRober t s  was t h e  

o n e  C h e m i s t  who c o u l d  b e  d e p e n d e d  upon t o  r u n  t h e  

t e s t s ,  come u p  w i t h  t h e  r i g h t  r e s u l t s ,  a n d  

p r a c t i c a l l y  e v e r y o n e  e l s e  h a d  t r i e d  t h e  m e t h o d s  t h a t  

were p r o p o s e d  b y  t h e  V i t a m i n  D i v i s i o n  r a n  i n t o  

t r o u b l e ,  b u t  n o t  McRober t s .  H e  i r o n e d  o u t  a l l  t h e  

l i t t l e  d e t a i l s  t h a t  w e r e  n e c e s s a r y  t o  b e  

p e r f o r m e d  and came u p  a l w a y s  w i t h  t h e  b e s t  r e s u l t s .  

A s  a r e s u l t  t h e  V i t a m i n  D i v i s i o n  would s e n d  t h e i r  

t e s t  methods  to  McRober t s  f o r  t r y i n g  o u t  r a t h e r  t h a n  

t o  anybody else--

P .  -	 I d o n ' t  know i f  t h a t  was a good i d e a  or n o t .  

Y .  	 - Well, t h e y  g o t  b a c k  some good r e s u l t s  i n  t h e  e n d .  

Yes t h e y  m i g h t  e n d  u p  w i t h  a method--

P .  -	T h a t  a n  o r d i n a r y  g u y  c o u l d n ' t  r u n .  

Y.  	 - Q u i t e  p o s s i b l e ,  q u i t e  p o s s i b l e .  But  h e  r e m i n d s  m e  i n  

a way o f  George  D a u g h t e r s .  G e o r g e  was i n  a s e n s e  t h e  

o p p o s i t e  o f  McRober t s .  H e  d i d n ' t  h i d e  h i s  l i g h t  

u n d e r  a  b u s h e l .  F o r  a l o n g  t i m e  h e  was a C h i e f  

I n s p e c t o r  h e r e  a n d  C h i e f  I n s p e c t o r  t h e r e .  And 



finally they appointed him as Chief of a District. 


It came about after a speech he made at the 


Washington Headquarters when he was describing the 


work of the Inspectors before a selected audience. 


And he said now in training a man, here's what you 


do. And he went through all of the steps. He said 


always be very careful when you're dealing with him. 


ae very kind with him because you never can tell when 


he'll become your District Chief over you. Dunbar 


was the Commissioner. He got the idea and as soon as 


they could they appointed Daughters as Chief of one 


of the-- 


P. - I don't remember, but he was Chief in Chicago when I 

was there. But I think he'd been Chief somewhere 

else first. 

Y. - Yes, perhaps Denver or St. Louis or New Orleans. No 

it couldn't have been New Orleans. 

Mildred - Was it 3altimore? 

Y. - Yes, I'm pretty sure you're right. 

P. - Baltimore, I believe yes. Now let's see we just 

finished talking about George Daughters and the fact 

that he first was made Director in Baltimore and then 

Denver and then eventually Detroit. 

Y. - Right. 



P. - YO.J know I knew George well and I'm sorry I didn't--

Mildred - Baltimore and then Chicago and then Detroit. 

P. - Oh that's right; Baltimore, Chicago and Detroit. 

Y. - Let me add a little more about Daughters. 

P. - Okay. 

Y. - As I traveled through Latin America visiting the 

various Food and Drug testing laboratories, on oc- 

casion I would encounter one or more Chemists and 

Inspectors from these Latin American Food and Drug 

Administration who had come to the United States for 

training in Food and Drug Administration. And those 

who had been assigned to Detroit invariably glowed 

with pleasure and pride as they told me how they'd 

been received by George Daughters. What a great man 

he was. They were all terribly impressed by him. 

They would mention other Districts they'd been to and 

just pass over casually who they had dealt with. But 

when they came to Detroit and told about how 

Daughters would glad-hand them and bring them into 

his family, they positively glowed with pleasure. It 

made me feel good. 

P. - He was quite a character, George. 

Y. - He sure was. 

P. - Before he came to Chicago I had never met him despite 



t h e  f a c t  t h a t  we had b o t h  worked i n  W e s t e r n  Dis t r ic t  

and so on. Because  o f  a l l  t h e  s t o r i e s  I was a f r a i d  

t h a t  h e r e  was a man t h a t  I w o u l d n ' t  g e t  a l o n g  w i t h ,  

b e c a u s e  o f  t h e  t h i n g s  I had h e a r d  a b o u t  him. W e l l ,  

q u i t e  t h e  r e v e r s e  was t r u e .  W e  j u s t  g o t  a l o n g  

f amous ly .  I n e v e r  e n j o y e d  work ing  f o r  anybody more 

t h a n  George.  

Y. -	Well, he was a n  odd one  though i n  some r e s p e c t s .  

P .  	 - Now George had t h e  f a u l t  t h a t  you men t ioned  a b o u t  

Harvey ,  b u t  d o  I t h i n k  w e l l ,  a t  l e a s t  c e r t a i n l y  had 

t h a t  t o  a v e r y  g r e a t  d e g r e e .  I f  you were o n e  o f  

G e o r g e ' s  b o y s ,  --
Y.  	 - You c o u l d n ' t  d o  wrong. And i f  you w e r e n ' t  you 

c o u l d n ' t  d o  r i g h t .  

P .  	- T h a r ' s  r i g h t .  I n  Ch icago  I was k i n d  o f  o n e  of h i s  

boys  and.. .  

Y.  	 - I t  w a s n ' t  d i f f i c u l t  t o  d e a l  w i t h  him, b u t  i f  h e  

became u p s e t  w i t h  you ,  you were i n  t r o u b l e  w i t h  him. 

P. 	 - And somet imes  f o r  no good r e a s o n  you know. I a l w a y s ,  

f o r  i n s t a n c e ,  a s  much as I l i k e d  George ,  I a l w a y s  r e -  

s e n t e d  t h e  way h e  t r e a t e d  Jimmy H e r r i n g  b e c a u s e  

H e r r i n g  w a s  h i s  a s s i s t a n t  i n  Ch icago .  And you knew 

H e r r i n g ?  

Y .  -	3e worked f o r  m e ,  d i e d  w h i l e  h e  was i n  t h e  D i v i s i o n .  



P. - Well, then you knew him well. He was an extremely 

knowledgeable and conscientious person, but kind of 

an old maid in the sense that he, you know, had to be 

just sort of just-- 

Y. -	He didn't sparkle. He wasn't spontaneous. 

P. - No and the kind of a person George Daughters was was 

just so opposite, you know, that I didn't think 

George ever made an effort to realize that he 

didn't--well you know how you do when you have people 

working for you, they're all different kinds and you 

kind of make the best of each. They're all different 

and you do the best you can with them. And he didn't 

do that with Jimmy at all. And of course I knew and 

liked them both. 

Y. - You know there's an interesting little story about 

Herring that I might bring in at this time. He be- 

came ill while he was working in one of the divisions 

that I was connected with. And he finally died of 

the condition. I can't think of it. It had some- 

thing to do with muscle--- 

P. -	Oh, inyastheniasgravis. 
Y. 	- An interesting thing about Herring is that he 

diagnosed his own problem long before the physicians 

did. aut he would never volunteer to them what he 



t h o u g h t  h i s  symptoms were l e a d i n g  to .  They were 

p r o g r e s s i v e .  H i s  e y e l i d s  s t r r t e d  d r o o p i n g  and  h e  

c o u l d n ' t  o p e n  up  t h e  eye .  

P .  -	 I t h i n k  h e  a l r e a d y  had t h a t  i n  Ch icago .  

Y .  -	 Is t h a t  s o ?  

P .  	 - Because  l a t e r  a f t e r  I knew wha t ,  you know, what  was 

wrong w i t h  h im,  I r e c a l l  t h a t  he  would s i t  a t  h i s  

d e s k  and  y o u ' d  t h i n k  h e  was a l m o s t  h a l f  a s l e e p .  You 

d i d n ' t  know h e  was working  b e c a u s e  h i s  e y e l i d s  were  

d r o o p i n g .  I ' m  s u r e  t h a t  t h o s e  f i r s t  symptoms were  

o c m r r i n g  them. 

Y .  	 - But I ' m  s u r e  t h e  s t o r y  is c o r r e c t .  He would n e v e r  

v o l m t e e r  t h i s  s u p p o s i t i o n  t h a t  i t  was m y a s t h e n i a s -

g r a v i s  t o  a n y  of  t h e  a t t e n d i n g  p h y s i c i a n s .  And i t  

was o n l y  l a t e r  i n  t h e  d a y  t h a t  t h e y  tumbled  t o  

whac he  h a d .  But  o f  c o u r s e  t h e  c o n d i t i o n  i s  p r o g r e s -

s i v e  and t h e r e  i s n ' t  a t r emendous  l o t  t h e y  can  do .  

?. 	- T h e r e ' s  now some d r u g  t h a t ' s  v e r y  p r o m i s i n g  f o r  t h a t  

kind--

Y .  	 - They had him o u t  a t  t h e  c l i n i c  i n  B e t h e s d a  N a t i o n a l  

I n s t i t u t e s  o f  H e a l t h ,  b u t  i t  d i d n ' t  h e l p  v e r y  much. 

P .  -	 Wel l ,  now l e t ' s  s e e  I i n t e r r u p t e d  you--

Y .  -	 Yes, what  were  we g o i n g  t o  t a l k  a b o u t ?  

P .  -	 We were  t a l k i n g  a b o u t  D a u g h t e r s  and t h e n  t h e r e  was 



somebody else you were going to say something about. 


Y. - Oh yes, Gordon Wood. As I recall Gordon was 

appointed to FDA at San Francisco just about the 

same time as myself. And we became pretty good 

friends. About a year after, no when he was going 

through his probationary period he was involved in an 

automobile accident with an FDA car. And just be- 

cause of that they were going to release him at the 

end of the probationary period. That is I think the 

people at the District level thought-well, the guy 

causes problems, we don't want him. But Grant 

Morton, who was Chief of the San Francisco District, 

fended for Gordon Wood so vigorously that Harvey de- 

cided to keep him on. But Wood was almost dismissed 

at the end of the probationary period because of the 

automobile accident. 

P. - There was a time in my life when I would have wished 

that that had happened. I went through a period with 

Gordon was pretty critical of me and I was unhappy 

with him. Later we got to be friends again and I had 

a good interview with him last winter. 

Y. - Well, he would get very--He would act too rapidly I 

think in some situations. 

P. - 9e made judgments--He and Rayfield that was one thing 



they had in common, they both could make judgments 


based on very little evidence about personnel at 


least. I had a little problem in Denver that Gordon 


jumped on and made far too much of it. As I look 


back now I think because I did so many different 


things in my career and I can look back on it now. 


do think that at the time when I was young, I 


couldn't judge him, but now I do feel that he did 


not--


Y. -	ae acted too rapidly. 
P. - But Gordon looks very well. He looks just fine. He 

looks vigorous and I think he's happy. 

Y. 	- Good for him. Going back to his ability to make 

rapid decisions, I remenber that at one of the Dis- 

trict Chief's meetings, he was adamantly opposed to 

FDA's getting into the field of acting against physi- 

cians and pharmacists who sold amphetamines 

illegally. He said that's none of FDA's business. 

That's for the narcotics people to get after. It 

doesn't fit into FDA's pattern of operations at all. 

The very next year lo and behold he's come back argu- 

ing exactly the opposite. This was an important 

thing in the Los Angeles District. "By God we needed 

more men for this type of activity." I couldn't help 

I 



b u t  l a u g h  i n  h i s  f a c e  o v e r  h i s  sudden  c h a n g e  o f  

a t t i t u d e .  

P .  	- Well, i n  h i s  i n t e r v i e w  w i t h  m e  h e  w s  t e l l i n g  a b o u t  

some o f  t h o s e  c a s e s  and  i t  was o b v i o u s  t h a t  h e  g o t  

p e r s o n a l l y  i nvo lved - -  

Y .  -	T h a t ' s  what  happened .  

P .  -	 Became v e r y  e n t h u s i a s t i c - -  

Y .  	 - B u t  when t h e  e a r l y  a a y s  o f  t h a t  t y p e  o f  a c t i v i t y ,  he  

was a g a i n s t  i t .  T h a t  was n o t  t h e  kind-- 

P .  	 - You c o u l d  u n d e r s t a n d  i t  you know. Most o f  u s  r e a l l y  

who were  t r a i n e d  i n  a t r a d i t i o n a l  way were  a g a i n s t  

t h a t  i n i t i a l l y .  

Y .  	 - T h a t ' s  r i g h t .  I t h i n k  t h a t ' s  so. And i t  became a 

s e p a r a t e  p a r t  o f  FDA and  o f  c o u r s e  i t  b r a n c h e d  o f f  

i n t o  t h e ,  w h a t e v e r  i t ' s  c a l l e d ,  DEA o r  w h a t e v e r  t h e  

name of  i t  is .  Los  Ange le s  had many i n t e r e s t i n g  

c a s e s  o f  t h a t  t y p e .  T h e r e  was I remember,  i n v o l v i n g  

and  M.D. who s o l d  p r e s c r i p t i o n s  f o r  amphe tamines  and  

a l s o  s o l d  amphetamines  d i r e c t l y .  H i s  name was D r .  

F a k a h a n i e  and  a l l  o f  h i s  c l i e n t s  c a l l e d  him D r .  Fake 

because  he  w a s n ' t  a  d o c t o r .  He w a s n ' t  r e a l l y  a good 

d o c t o r  a t  a l l  and  t h e y  knew i t  b u t  t h e y  went  t o  him 

i n  o r d e r  t o  g e t  amphetamines  and b a r b i t u r a t e s .  And 

o l d  Gordon was h o t  on h i s  t r a i l ,  I remember.  



P.  -	 H e  d e s c r i b e d  t h a t  c a s e .  

Y .  -	D r .  P a k a h a n i e ?  

P .  	 - A s  I remember p a r t i c u l a r l y  t h a t  we had some p r o b l e m s  

w i t h  s p e l l i n g  i n  t h a t  t r a n s c r i p t i o n .  

Y.  	 - Yes, h i s  name w a s  a v e r y  p e c u l i a r  one .  I f  you c a l l e d  

him o l d  D r .  Fake ,  t h a t  would have  been  good enough.  

Yes,  t h e r e  were some i n t e r e s t i n g  e p i s o d e s  b u t  w i t h  

t h e  p a s s a g e  of  y e a r s  i t  sort  o f  a l l  g e t s  d u l l e d  i n  

t h e  mind. 

P .  -	Yes, it  d o e s .  

Y .  -	 Hard t o  r e c a l l  a l l  of i t .  

P. 	- P a r t i c u l a r l y  b e c a u s e  you have  o t h e r  i n t e r e s t s  and  i t  

j u s t  r e a l l y  f a d e s  i n  t h e  background.  I n  some p e o p l e ,  

i t ' s  v e r y  i n t e r e s t i n g ,  t h i s  work I ' m  do ing .  Some 

p e o p l e  look  fo rward  t o  t h i s  i n t e r v i e w  a s  an oppor-

t u n i t y  t o  s a y  a l l  k i n d s  o f  t h i n g s  t h e y  wanted t o  

s a y .  

Y.  -	Any c r i t i c a l  p e o p l e ?  

P.  	 - N o t  v e r y  many, no. I f i n d  t h a t  t h e r e ' s  a  g r e a t  re-

l u c t a n c e  t o  be c r i t i c a l .  I t r y  t o  g e t  them t o  be  

c r i t i c a l  because  w e  want  t h e  t r u t h  t o  come o u t  a t  

t h i s  l a t e  d a t e .  

Y .  	 - What is t r u t h ?  I n  d e a l i n g  w i t h  p e o p l e  you c a n ' t  be 

t h e i r  f r i e n d  f o r  3 0  y e a r s  and t h e n  s a y  t h e y  were a 



bunch of--


P. - I know it. But you know everything wasn't good about 

all these people and some of their traits might just 

as well be recorded; makes them more human. But you 

don't get much of that. A few people have, but Mr. 

Boudreaux is an example. You knew aoudreaux pretty 

well? 

Y. 	- Farily well. Now you see he was at a distance. I 

knew him largely by reputation, Bob. But, I knew 

him. 

P. - Now he's--I don't mean that he's been critical of 

people. He has not Seen critical of people, but he 

wants to get on the record the things he knew and the 

things he experienced. And after he knew I was com- 

ing to interview him, he sat down and he wrote an 

article on the history of Food and Drug enforcement 

in New Orleans, and an article of the history of the 

seafood inspection. And furnished me with those. We 

gave me quite a few pictures. After the interview he 

wanted some insertions, some additions. Be's very 

int~rested in this you know. And gee, he's been away 

from it a long time too. But he's maintained his 

interest and of course he still visits the office 

there probably aore than they would want him to. But 



h e  keeps  up h i s  i n t e r e s t .  

Y .  -	Be must be g e t t i n g  up i n  y e a r s  by now. 

P.  	 - Yes, h e ' s  i n  h i s  e i g h t i e s  now. He t o l d  me, I ' v e  

f o r g o t t e n .  He's e i t h e r  8 3  o r  8 7 .  I t h i n k  83.  

P .  	 - Well M o r r i s ,  i f  t h e r e  a r e n ' t  any o t h e r  t h i n g s  t h a t  

maybe you 'd  l i k e  t o  t a l k  a b o u t  why, I t h i n k  w e ' l l  

j u s t  c l o s e  o f f  t h i s  t a p e .  I want to t h a n k  you v e r y  

much f o r  y o u r  h e l p  t o d a y .  



ATTAC;iMENT - PRE-RECORDED STATEMENT BY M O R R I S  YAKOUITZ 

My name is Morris Yakowitz. I was employed by the Food 


and Drug Administration from July, 1931 until August 1966. 


When I entered the Food and Drug Administracion it was 


divided geographically into three districts, namely the 


Eastern District, the Central District, and the Western 


District. The Hestern District contained four stations with 


headquarters at Seattle, San Francisco, Los Angeles and 


Denver. The Western District at that tine was headed by Mr. 


Wendell Vincent and his assistant was John i. Harvey. 


I entered at the San Francisco station which was head- 

ed by Mr. Grant Morton. I was assigned to work in the druq 

laboratory headed by Mr. Elgar 0 .  Eaton. Mr. Eaton was the 

only drug chemist in the district at that time and I was his 

only assistant for a number of years. We did the drug 

analysis for the four stations. In short, we were regarded 

as the district drag laboratory. 

The San Francisco station headquarters and the Western 


District headquarters were located in the old Appraiser's 


Building at the corner of Sansome and Washington Streets, in 


San Francisco. This building was made of brick and the 


walis were at least chree feet thick, although the build- 


ing itself was only three stories high. 


I'd learned a great deal while working with Mr. Eaton. 


Be had a very pragmatic turn of mind as illustrated by the 




f o l l o w i n g  s t o r y .  A t  t h a t  t i m e  e t h e r  was t h e  u s u a l  anes-

t h e t i c  m a t e r i a l  and t h e r e  were two l a r g e  m a n u f a c t u r e r s ,  

namely t h e  Merck Company and t h e  S q u i b b  Company. We t e s t e d  

many samples  o f  e t h e r  made by Merck and by S q u i b b  t o  d e t e r -  

mine whe the r  t h e y  compl i ed  w i t h  t h e  Pha rmacopoe ia  s t a n d a r d s .  

One of  t h e  s t a n d a r d s  i n v o l v e d  e v a p o r a t i n g  5 0 c c  o f  t h e  e t h e r  

and weighing  t h e  r e s i d u e .  The Pharmacopoeia  r e q u i r e d  t h a t  

n o t  more t h a n  1 m i l l i g r a m  of  r e s i d u e  be  p r e s e n t  i n  50cc  o f  

t h e  e t h e r .  On o n e  o c c a s i o n  w e  had a g r e a t  d e a l  o f  r e s e r v e  

sample  l e f t  o v e r  a f t e r  we had t e s t e d  a b a t c h  o f  t h e  S q u i b b  

e t h e r .  M r .  E a t o n  d e c i d e d  t o  e v a p o r a t e  down t h e  r e s e r v e  

sample  and l o  and b e h o l d ,  h e  found  a b o u t  3 o r  4 c c s  o f  a 

t h i c k ,  v i s c o u s  l i q u i d  which f u r t h e r  t e s t i n g  p r o v e d  t o  be  

e t h y l e n e  g l y c o l .  I t  s o  happens  t h a t  e t h y l e n e  g l y c o l  i s  

f a i r l y  v o l a t i l e  a t  s t e a m  b a t h  t e m p e r a t u r e s  and t h a t  is why 

w e  had n e v e r  found  any o f  t h e  r e s i d u e  when w e  had e v a p o r a t e d  

5 0 c c  of  e t h e r  i n  p e r f o r m i n g  t h e  Pharmacopoeia  t e s t .  The 

S q u i b b  f i r i n  was n o t i f i e d  of o u r  f i n d i n g s  and were much cha-  

g r i n e d .  I t  t u r n e d  o u t  t h a t  d u r i n g  t h e i r  secret p r o c e s s  o f  

m a n u f a c t u r i n g  h i g h  q u a l i t y  e t h e r ;  t h e y  bubbled  t h e  e t h e r  

v a p o r  t h r o u g h  a b a t h  o f  e t h y l e n e  g l y c o l  and  had n o t  r e a l i z e d  

t h a t  t h e y  were p i c k i n g  up a s m a l l  amount o f  t h e  e t h y l e n e  

g l y c o l  which t h e n  remained  p r e s e n t  i n  t h e  f i n i s h e d  e t h e r .  

N e e d l e s s  t o  s a y ,  t h e y  q u i c k l y  m o d i f i e d  t h e i r  method 



o f  p r o d u c i n g  e t h e r  f o r  a n e t h e s i a .  

I n  a b o u t  1932,  M r .  E a t o n  was c a l l e d  upon t o  t e s t i f y  i n  

a n  i m p o r t a n t  c a s e  i n v o l v i n g  f l u i d  e x t r a c t  o f  J a m a i c a  G i n g e r .  

T h i s  m a t e r i a l  c o n t a i n e d  a h i g h  p e r c e n t a g e  o f  a l c o h o l  b u t  

a l s o  c o n t a i n e d  s o  much e x t r a c t  o f  t h e  J a m a i c a  G i n g e r  t h a t  i t  

c o u l d  h a r d l y  be swal lowed even  by a  ha rdened  a l c o h o l i c .  One 

v e n d o r  of  t h e  F l u i d  E x t r a c t  o f  J a m a i c a  Ginge r  s u b s t i t u t e d  a 

m a t e r i a l  c a l l e d  t r i c r e s y l  p h o s p h a t e  f o r  much o f  t h e  g i n g e r  

e x t r a c t i v e s  so t h a t  t h e  f i n i s h e d  p r o d u c t ,  a l t h o u g h  i t  l o o k e d  

and  s m e l l e d  l i k e  F l u i d  E x t r a c t  o f  J a m a i c a  G i n g e r ,  c o u l d  b e  

swa l lowed  w i t h o u t  much d i f f i c u l t y  by a  p e r s o n  who wanted  t h e  

a l c o h o l  e f f e c t .  U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  t h e  t r i c r e s y l  p h o s p h a t e  

t u r n e d  o u t  t o  be v e r y  t o x i c  and c a u s e d  p a r a l y s i s ,  and s o o n  

t h e r e  was a v e r i t a b l e  e p i d e m i c  up and down s k i d  row,  o f  a 

c o n d i t i o n  t h a t  came t o  be  c a l l e d  G i n g e r  J a k e  P a r a l y s i s .  I n  

t h e  p r o s e c u t i o n  c a s e  b r o u g h t  by FDA a g a i n s t  t h e  v e n d o r s  o f  

t h i s  f a k e  Jama ica  G i n g e r  e x t r a c t ,  M r  Ea ton  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  h e  

made t h e  p r o d u c t  i n  t h e  manner r e q u i r e d  by t h e  Pha rmacopoe ia  

and examined t h e  r e s i d u e  a f t e r  e v a p o r a t i n g  o f f  t h e  a l c o h o l  

and t h a t  i t  d i f f e r e d  g r e a t l y  f rom t h e  r e s i d u e  t h a t  h e  g o t  

when h e  e v a p o r a t e d  t h e  s p u r i o u s  f l u i d  e x t r a c t  o f  J a m a i c a  

G i n g e r .  The vendors  were  found g u i l t y  o f  v i o l a t i n g  t h e  

F e d e r a l  Food and Drugs A c t ,  b u t  a p p e a l e d  t o  t h e  n e x t  h i g h e r  

c o u r t ,  namely t h e  F e d e r a l  A p p e l l a t e  C o u r t .  The j u d g e s  



decided that Mr. Eaton had performed the correct operations 


in making the comparison between the fluid extract of 


Jamaica Ginger which he had prepared under the Pharmacopoeia 


directions and the spurious product marketed by the con- 


victed vendors. 


From time to time Mr. Eaton or I had to testify in a 


court case involving alleged misbranding of a drug product. 


These cases-ere brought under what was called the Sherley 


Admendment, which stated that a drug shall be deemed to be 


misbranded if its labeling contained any statement which is 


false and fraudulent. The background of the Sherley Amend- 


ment is interesting and is as follows. The wording of the 


original 1906 Food and Drugs Act stated that a product 


should be deemed misbranded if its labeling contained any 


false statement. However, in a court case that went up to 


the Supreme Court, the majority decision written by Justice 


Oliver Wendell Holmes stated that that provison of the Act 


applied only to statements of composition, and did not 


relate to statements of therapeutic value. 


Following the Supreme Court decision, Congress at- 


tempted to correct the situation by passing the Sherley 


Amendment, but as already noted, it contained a joker which 


required that the Government prove that the therapeutic 




c l a i m s  i n  t h e  l a b e l i n g  were  n o t  o n l y  f a l s e  b u t  t h a t  t h e  

vendor  o p e r a t e d  i n  a f r a u d u l e n t  manner.  A 1936 court c a s e  

a t  Denver i l l u s t r a t e s  t h e  problem. FDA was t a k i n g  a c t i o n  

a g a i n s t  t h e  vendor  o f  a p r o d u c t  c a l l e d  D i a p l e x ,  f o r  d i a -  

b e t e s .  T h i s  p r o d u c t  was n o t h i n g  more nor  less t h a n  a  weed 

c a l l e d  s a l t  bush which grows w i l d  i n  t h e  Denver a r e a .  The 

vendor  c l a imed  t h a t  by making a t e a ,  t h e  u s e r  whould have  a 

t r e a t m e n t  f o r  d i a b e t e s .  I n  t h e  e n s u i n g  c o u r t  case h e l d  be- 

f o r e  a j u r y ,  t h e  v e n d o r  t e s t i f i e d  i n  h i s  own b e h a l f  and i t  

soon  became a p p a r e n t  t h a t  a l t h o u g h  h e  was i g n o r a n t  o f  medi-

c a l  m a t t e r s ,  h e  a c t u a l l y  d i d  b e l i e v e  t h a t  h i s  p r o d u c t  was a 

t r e a t m e n t  f o r  d i a b e t e s .  A s  a r e s u l t ,  w e  l o s t  t h e  c a s e .  

remember coming o u t  o f  t h e  c o u r t  house  a f t e r  t h e  c a s e  was 

o v e r  and e n c o u n t e r i n g  o n e  of  t h e  j u r o r s  on t h e  s t r e e t  o u t -  

s i d e  t h e  f r o n t  d o o r  o f  t h e  b u i l d i n g .  He r e c o g n i z e d  m e  a s  

one  o f  t h e  p e r s o n s  who had t e s t i f i e d  f o r  t h e  Government  and 

came up t o  me and s a i d ,  "Look, w e  jurymen a r e  n o t  c r a z y ,  w e  

a g r e e  t h a t  t h e  p r o d u c t  is  no good f o r  d i a b e t e s ,  b u t  i t  was 

o b v i o u s  t h a t  t h e  ignoramus  who se l l s  t h e  s t u f f  b e l i e v e s  t h a t  

i t  is a t r e a t m e n t  and  t h e r e f o r e ,  t h e  Government f a i l e d  t o  

p r o v e  f r a u d  i n  h i s  c a s e . "  

T h i s  s i t u a t i o n  was c o r r e c t e d  when Congress  e n a c t e d  t h e  

F e d e r a l  Food', Drug,  and C o s m e t i c  Act i n  1938. The  new law 

r e q u i r e d  o n l y  t h a t  t h e  Government p rove  t h a t  t h e  

I 



t h e r e a p e u t i c  c l a i m s  i n  t h e  l a b e l i n g  were  f a l s e ,  and t h i s  

would be enough t o  o b t a i n  a c o n v i c t i o n .  

I n  a b o u t  1932 t h e r e  a p p e a r e d  a book e n t i t l e d ,  One-
Hundred M i l l i o n  Guinea P i g s ,  w r i t t e n  by p e r s o n s  i n v o l v e d  i n  

t h e  p u b l i s h i n g  of  t h e  Consumer ' s  Union magazine.  They 

c l a i m e d  t h a t  t h e  Food and  D r u g ' s  A c t  o f  1906 was weak a n d  

t h a t  t h e  Food and Drug A d m i n i s t r a t i o n  a s  weak-kneed i n  

e n f o r c i n g  t h e  law.  A t  t h a t  t i m e  FDA was p a r t  o f  t h e  

Depar tmen t  of  A g r i c u l t u r e  which had Henry Wal l ace  a s  t h e  

s e c r e t a r y  and a  gen t l emen  named Rexfo rd  Guy Tugwell  a s  t h e  

a s s i s t a n t  s e c r e t a r y .  M r .  Tugwel l  induced  t h e  p e o p l e  a t  t h e  

head  o f  FDA t o  w r i t e  a new p r o p o s e d  law which h e  had i n t r o -

duced  i n  Congres s ,  where i t  was p rompt ly  dubbed t h e  

"Tugwell  B i l l " .  Congres s  p l a y e d  a round  w i t h  t h e  s o  c a l l e d  

"Tugwel l  B i l l "  f o r  f o u r  y e a r s  and d u r i n g  t h a t  t i m e  a l l  t h a t  

happened was t h a t  v a r i o u s  p o r t i o n s  o f  t h e  b i l l  were c u t  o u t  

and weak p o r t i o n s  were s u b s t i t u t e d  f o r  t h e  s t r o n g e r  p o r -  

t i o n s .  A s  an example,  t h e  o r i g i n a l  proposed  b i l l  a s  p r e -

p a r e d  by FDA would have  g i v e n  FDA c o n t r o l  o v e r  a d v e r t i s i n g  

i n  newspape r s  and o v e r  t h e  r a d i o  e t c . ,  g e n e r a l l y  o v e r  s u c h  

p r o d u c t s  a s  f o o d s ,  d r u g s ,  and c o s m e t i c s .  However, i n  a b o u t  

1936 C o n g r e s s  e n a c t e d  t h e  Wheeler  Lea Amendment t o  t h e  

F e d e r a l  T r a d e  Commission Ac t  which g a v e  t h e  F e d e r a l  T r a d e  

Commissi3n j u r i s d i c t i o n  o v e r  a d v e r t i s i n g  d i r e c t e d  t o  t h e  



public concerning foods, drugs, and cosmetics. This portion 


of the proposed FDA bill was therefore eliminated. 


Congress finally enacted the new Food, Drug, and 


Cosmetic Act in 1938, following the elixir of sulfanilamide 


tragedy. Sulfanilamide became widely used as a general 


treatment for infection in about 1935. At the beginning it 


was available only in solid dosage form such as pills and 


capsules because alcoholic solutions and acidified water 


solutions were unstable. The Massengill firm located at 


Bristol, Tennessee asked its chemist to find a solvent in 


which sulfanilamide would be both soluble and stable. The 


chemist came up with a solvent named diethylene glycol. 


Unfortunately he failed to take into account the fact that 


this solvent was definitely toxic and when Hassengill's 


Elixir of Sulfaniliamide was put on the market, it promptly 


caused at least a hundred deaths. The principal symptom 


that could be easily recognized by the attending physician 


was anuria. The resulting publicity induced Congress to 


take up the dormant Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and enact 


it into laws after altering the section which defined the 


term "new drug'' and require that the sponsor of a new drug 


not market the product until it had proven the safety of the 


product and had obtained marketing permission from FDA. 




When I entered the Food and Drug Administration in 1931, 


the Commissioner was Walter G. Campbell, who had risen from 


the ranks of inspectors to become the Commissioner. He was 


succeeded in about 1952 by Dr. Paul Dunbar, who had been his 


(Campbell's) assistant. Dunbar retired in about 1953 and 


was succeeded by Charles Crawford, who had been Dunbar's 


assistant. Crawford ran into a peculiar difficulty. A 


canner of foods in upper New York State came to FDA and 


asked if FDA would object if the firm sold cans of small 


beets carved from large beets. FDA considered the matter and 


provided the opinion that this was inhertantly illegal 


because the small carved beets would resemble baby beets 


which was a premium product which commanded a better price 


than large beets. The food canner appealed to his Congress- 


man, a 2r. Tabor, from upstate New York. Congressman Tabor 


expressed great indignation and said that FDA was acting in 


a very arbitrary manner. Unfortunately for FDA, Mr. Tabor 


was head of the House Appropriations Committee, and suc- 


ceeded single-handedly in reducing FDA's budget for the 


coming year by about a half a million dollars. This re- 


quired Commissioner Crawford to run a reduction in force 


which led to the dismissal of about 50 FDA employees. This 


experience so aggravated Mr. Crawford that he resigned his 


position as Commissioner in about 1956. 




Crawford's successor, as Commissioner, was George P. 


Larrick, who had risen through the ranks of inspector within 


FDA. Larrick induced the Secretary of the HEW Department 


to establish a citizen's committee to examine FDA and to 


make recommendations concerning its future. This committee 


turned in a report, which among other things, recommended 


that FDA's budget be increased about 15% per year for an 


indefinite period. FDA's budge~problems were thus resolved, 


but new problems presented themsel-ves. One of the problems 


involved Dr. Henry Welch, a microbiologist of note, who 


headed FDA's division of antibiotics, the certification arm 


of FDA in the field of antibiotics. It was learned that Dr. 


Welch would write editorials for one of the medical journals 


and that the operators of the journal would then sell re- 


prints of the editorials to various drug companies who were 


involved in the making of antibiotics. The companies paid 


the medical journal on the basis of how many reprints they 


obtained and Henry Welch received a royalty based on this 


transaction. It turned out that the companies that pur- 


chased the reprints would do nothing with them but would 


eventually destroy the reprints. When this became a matter 


of public knowledge there were many critics of FDA who 


claimed that the whole procedure was nothing but a strate- 


gem for passing money from the antibiotic drug companies 




to the pockets of Dr. Welch. As a result of the bad 


publicity, Welch had to resign. His actions were later 


thoroughly investigated by a Federal Grand Jury, but no 


indictments were ever returned. 


In about 1957, Commissioner Larrick employed Dr.Jerry 


Holland as Director of the Bureau of Medicine. Holland re- 


mained with FDA for several years and then left to join the 


American Home Products Company, one of the large drug manu- 


facturing establishments. After Holland's departure, one of 


the physicians in the Bureau of Medicine testified before a 


Congressional Committee to the effect that while Holland had 


been with FDA he had encouraged all of the staff to favor 


industry in their decisions and that Dr. Holland had been 


very partial to industry in his own personal decision 


making. 


Dr. Joseph Sadusk became Director of the Bureau of 


3edicine in about 1961 and remained until he joined the 


Parke-Davis firs in about 1964. Like his predecessor, Dr. 


Yolland, Dr. Sadusk was criticized by one of the Congres- 


sional Committees for supposed favoritism towards the drug 


industry. 


In 1964 Abbott Laboratories had a misbranding problem 


that caused bad publicity for FDA. Abbott manufactures 


large volume parenteral solutions such as litre flasks of 5% 




d e x t r o s e  s o l u t i o n s  and p h y s i o l o g i c  s a l t  s o l u t i o n  e t c .  Each 

b a t c h  c o n s i s t s  of  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  1 0 , 0 0 0  f l a s k s  and l a b e l s  a r e  

f e d  i n t o  t h e  machine f rom p a c k e t  o f  i Q O  l a h e l s  each. On two 

o c c a s i o n s  i n  t h e  s p r i n g  o f  1 9 6 4 ,  a b a t c h  o f  500 wrong l a b e l s  

was f e d  i n t o  t h e  mach ine  s o  t h a t  two b a t c h e s  of t h e  A b b o t t  

p a r e n t e r a l  s o l u t i o n s  emerged from t h e  f a c t o r y  w i t h  500 m i s -

b randed  b o t t l e s .  Fo r  e a c h  o f  t h e  b a t c h e s  a  p h a r m a c i s t  who 

n o t e d  t h e  d i s p a r i t y  be tween t h e  l a b e l  on t h e  f l a s k  and t h e  

l a b e l  on t h e  s h i p p i n g  c a r t o n  n o t i f i e d  Abbo t t  and t h e y  

p r o m p t l y  n o t i e d  FDA so t h a t  FDA c o u l d  work w i t h  A b b o t t  i n  

r o u n d i n g  u p  t h e  misb randed  p r o d u c t .  

FDA r e q u i r e d  Abbo t t  t o  n o t i f y  a l l  p h y s i c i a n s  and o t h e r  

u s e r s  o f  l a r g e  volume p a r e n t e r a l s  so t h a t  Abbot was f o r c e d  

t o  spend o v e r  a q u a r t e r  o f  a m i l l i o n  d o l l a r s  i n  W e s t e r n  

Union t e l e g r a m s  t o  n o t i f y  t h e  p e r s o n s  who would be  i n t e r -

e s t e d  i n  t h e  f a c t  o f  t h e  m i s b r a n d i n g .  L a t e r  o n ,  FDA d e c i d e d  

t h a t  A b b o t t  had been  p u n i s h e d  s e v e r e l y  enough by h a v i n g  t o  

spend  a q u a r t e r  of  m i l l i o n  d o l l a r s  f o r  t h e  Western  Union 

t e l e g r a m s ,  and t h e r e f o r e  d e c i d e d  n o t  t o  p r o s e c u t e  t h e  f i r m .  

One o f  t h e  C o n g r e s s i o n a l  Commit tees  h e l d  h e a r i n g s  r e g a r d i n g  

t h e  A b b o t t  m a t t e r  and r o u n d l y  c r i t i c i z e d  FDA f o r  i t s  

d e c i s i o n  n o t  t o  p r o s e c u t e  A b b o t t .  

The A l l e r j o y  p r o s e c u t i o n  c a s e  h e l d  i n  Kansas  C i t y  i n  

a b o u t  1962 a l s o  c r e a t e d  bad p u b l i c i t y  f o r  FDA. A l l e r j o y  was 



a concoction that resembled milk. It was intended for use 


by infants who were allergic to cow's milk. Unfortunately 


many batches of Allerjoy contained too little protein to be 


useful and a number of infants became ill with a condition 


called hypoproteinemia when they were fed only the Allerjoy. 


FDA decided to prosecute the vendor of Allerjoy and in pre- 


paring for the case arranged to record the statements made 


by two women who were hired by the Allerjoy Company to stand 


in a super market and extol1 the merits of Allerjoy as a 


substitute for cow's milk for infants. For this purpose FDA 


sent a young inspector and a young female clerk into the 


store with a radio transmitter. They talked to the two 


women representing the Allerjoy Company and the voices and 


conversation were broadcast to a receiver and tape recorder 


in a car outside on the parking lot of the super market. As 


it turned out, the two women said nothing that was really of 


any interest to FDA and FDA did not use the recording in the 


trial. However, the existence of the recording became known 


during the testimony of one of the FDA inspecrors and the 


attorney for the Abbott defendent promptly used the re- 


cording to divert the attention of the jurors from the real 


facts of the case. It so happened that FDA had sent seven 


people as a group to make this recording. The inspector and 


clerk who entered the store and five other inspectors who 




were in a car outside in the parking lot where they picked 


up the radio transmission and monitored the tape recording 


of the zonversation that was being held inside the super 


market. The Allerjoy attorney referred to the actions of 


this group of FDA employees as a "safari". He claimed that 


there was an invasion of the rights of the defendent and of 


the two women who had acted as the Allerjoy representatives 


in the super market and he was entirely successful in 


diverting the attention of the jurors. The jurors returned 


a not guilty verdict almost immediately after the trial was 


over. 


There was further adverse publicity on the national 


scale. The Allerjoy attorney happened to be an ex-- 


governor of one of the Southern states and he had a friend 


in Congress, a Senator Long from Missouri, who headed up a 


sub-committee which held hearings on the Allerjoy matter. 


Nothing actually came of Senator Long's investigation of the 


Allerjoy case, but as I've indicated before, the publicity 


was very harmful to FDA. 


When Commissioner Larrick retired from FDA in the end of 

1965, the officials at the head of the H E X  Department ap- 

pointed a Dr. James L. Goddard from outside of FDA to be the 

new Commissioner. Undoubtedly their decision to no longer 

promote from within FDA was based on the long series of 



a d v e r s e  p i e c e s  of p u b l i c i t y  r e g a r d i n g  FDA a c t i o n s  dur ing  t h e  

p e r i o d  about 1955-1965 .  




